**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Dorchester County
Court of Common Pleas

RECEIVED

Diane Schafer Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge FEB 18 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2015-000058
Trial Court Case No. 2013-CP-18-00735

William McFarland and Jennifer McFarland,

Appellants,

v.

Mansour Rashtchian and Amy Rashtchian,

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

YOUNG CLEMENT RIVERS, LLP
Stephen L. Brown (SC Bar No. 66468)
Russell G. Hines (SC Bar No. 72100)
25 Calhoun Street, Suite 400
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
P.O. Box 993 (29402)
(843) 720-5488
Attorneys for Appellants

INTRODUCTION

Bill and Jennifer McFarland² appeal to this Court following a defense verdict in the trial of the defamation case they brought against Mansour and Amy Rashtchian.³ The McFarlands' appeal centers on the trial court's jury charge on self-defense,⁴ one of the Rashtchians' affirmative defenses.

Underlying this lawsuit is an unusual and most unpleasant incident, a mid-street row between these two sets of across-the-street neighbors, wherein false accusations, of a sort actionable *per se*, were imprudently cast at the McFarlands, with Jennifer accused of adultery and Bill of stealing his father-in-law's (Jennifer's father's) business, the latter charge, i.e., the one aimed at Bill, which Mansour admitted making, the trial court actually—and correctly—determined to constitute defamation as a matter of law.

Besides being *unusual* and *unpleasant*, the incident was—without question—*unnecessary*. It happened when—and never would have happened had not—Mansour angrily charged out of his house to initiate a

² Appellants William McFarland and Jennifer McFarland are referred to as “Bill” and “Jennifer,” respectively, and as the “McFarlands” or “Plaintiffs,” collectively.

³ Respondents Mansour Rashtchian and Amy Rashtchian are referred to as “Mansour” and “Amy,” respectively, and as the “Rashtchians” or “Defendants,” collectively.

⁴ The trial court also used the terms “provocation” and “justification,” which it viewed, incorrectly, as being interchangeable with “self-defense.” (R. p. 425, line 5 - p. 426, line 8; R. p. 510, line 17 - p. 511, line 4; R. p. 512, line 20 - p. 513, line 1.)

confrontation with Bill over what was at most—at most—a minor transgression, a grand total of two vehicles crossing some portion of the “‘right-of-way’ grass”⁵ on his side of the street while the roadway was temporarily obstructed by a landscaping crew delivering mulch to the McFarlands, the record containing no evidence of any damage actually done thereby.

Mansour himself admitted the incident was triggered by his “foolish” behavior and “should never [have] happened.”⁶ Indeed, Mansour’s immediate and overt hostility, grossly disproportionate to the trivial slight he claimed to have prompted it, betrayed a long-simmering animosity toward the McFarlands and a malicious intent, not to respond in good-faith defense of an unprovoked defamatory attack, but to launch his own ill-willed offensive.

Respectfully, the trial court committed reversible error by charging the jury that self-defense, which it incorrectly equated with provocation and justification, was an absolute defense to the defamatory statements at issue

⁵ (*See, e.g.*, [Testimony of Mansour Rashtchian: R. p. 463, line 12 - p. 468, line 10]; [Plaintiffs’ Counsel’s Opening Statement: R. p. 63, line 19 - p. 64, line 5].)

⁶ ([Testimony of Mansour Rashtchian: R. p. 459, line 24 - p. 460, line 1]; *see also* [Mansour Rashtchian: R. p. 450, lines 6-15; R. p. 469, line 4 - p. 471, line 9]; [Plaintiffs’ Counsel’s Opening Statement: R. p. 65, lines 13-18]; [Plaintiffs’ Counsel’s Closing Argument: R. p. 508, line 24 - p. 509, line 2].)

and, for that matter, by even charging the jury on self-defense to begin with.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court commit reversible error by charging the jury that self-defense, which the court incorrectly equated with provocation and justification, was an absolute defense to the defamatory statements at issue and, for that matter, by even charging the jury on self-defense to begin with, when, by Defendant Mansour Rashtchian's own admission, the incident wherein the subject defamation occurred was triggered by his "foolish" actions and "should never [have] happened"?⁷**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

By summons and complaint filed in the Court of Common Pleas for Dorchester County on April 24, 2013, the McFarlands sued the Rashtchians for defamation. (*See* R. pp. 10-12.) Ultimately, their claims were premised on two false accusations, both actionable *per se*, having been made against them: (1) that Jennifer was unchaste/engaged in extra-marital relations and (2) that Bill committed criminal acts by stealing his father-in-law's business. (*See* R. pp. 13-15; R. p. 38, line 23 - p. 40, line 18; R. p. 54, line 25 - p. 57, line 20; R. p. 159, line 20 - p. 164, line 12; R. p. 302, line 13 - p. 303, line

⁷ As reflected in this issue statement, it would seem that the trial court's error is most efficiently viewed in terms of the jury charge. Nonetheless, to be clear, to the extent that the trial court's mistaken notion of self-defense in the context of this case may also be viewed in terms of its relationship to the court's ruling on Bill's motion for a directed verdict (or other judgment as a matter of law) or Bill's verdict form (in that it even gave the option of a defense verdict) or the denial of the McFarlands' motion for a new trial, it is intended that such sub or collateral points are included as issues on appeal.

16; R. p. 521, lines 6-9.)

The Rashtchians denied the McFarlands' material allegations and asserted a number of affirmative defenses, including what the trial court denominated/equated with self-defense. (See R. pp. 16-19; p. 57, line 18 - p. 58, line 1; R. p. 112, line 9; R. p. 112, lines 9-12; R. p. 425, line 5 - p. 426, line 8; R. p. 510, line 17 - p. 511, line 4; R. p. 512, line 20 - p. 513, line 1.)

The case was tried from December 8-12, 2014, before the circuit court and a jury, the Honorable Diane Schafer Goodstein presiding. (R. pp. 20-23.)

At the close of all evidence, Plaintiffs' counsel moved for a directed verdict as to Mansour's liability for defamation, actionable *per se*, for having wrongly accused Bill of stealing his father-in-law's business, i.e., so as to leave only damages to be determined by the jury on this claim. (R. p. 493, line 23 - p. 497, line 16; R. p. 499, line 21 - p. 506, line 9.) The trial court determined as a matter of law that Mansour made this accusation of Bill, that it was false, and that it was defamatory and actionable *per se*, but over Plaintiffs' counsel's objection, it nonetheless charged the jury that self-defense was an absolute defense available to Mansour on Bill's claim and included the option of a defense verdict on Bill's verdict form; the court likewise charged the jury that self-defense was available to Defendants on

Jennifer's defamation claim. (R. p. 499, line 21 - p. 506, line 9; R. p. 510, line 17 - p. 511, line 4; R. p. 512, line 15 - p. 513, line 13; R. p. 516, line 4 - p. 517, line 24; R. p. 520, line 6 - p. 521, line 9; R. p. 523, line 24 - p. 526, line 12; R. p. 527, line 10 - p. 532, line 12; *see also* R. pp. 8-9.)

More specifically, the trial court charged the jury as follows regarding self-defense:

Ladies and gentlemen, I have made a determination as a matter of law, and that has to do with one of the statements. It is the statement regarding Mr. McFarland, and I have made a determination that that statement is a statement which is -- would meet the definition of slander per se.

Now, you do not have to concern yourself with whether or not Mr. McFarland has made out that claim for slander per se. There is an affirmative defense, which is a complete defense, and it is the -- it's referred to in the law as self-defense, provocation or justification, and they're used interchangeably, depending on the case that you look at, sometimes depending on the state that you're looking at. It's maybe called more often justification, provocation. South Carolina, we call it justification or self-defense or provocation. We've called it that as well.

So you will consider that defense, because it is an absolute defense to slander per se. The defendants have the burden of proving self-defense. I'm going to talk about those elements in just a moment.

Now, as to the claim involving Mr.

McFarland, again, don't worry about the defamation, his defamation action. You do, though -- would determine whether or not the defendants have met their burden regarding their affirmative defense of self-defense.⁸

. . . . If you find that the statement was slanderous per se and that the defendants have failed to prove self-defense, then you -- or self-defense or truth, then you should return a verdict for the plaintiff and must award the plaintiff at least nominal damages.

Nominal damages may be only a small or trivial sum, and nominal damages are required because the law presumes that some actual damage to the plaintiff's reputation and character directly and proximately resulted from the defendant's defamatory statement.

Now, ladies and gentlemen, I want to talk about self-defense. I want to talk about self-defense, which is an affirmative defense. Then I'm going to talk to you regarding truth. When you speak in terms of defenses to slander or slander per se, you talk about truth as an absolute defense is the term that's used.

Going to first talk about self-defense, then we're going to talk about truth as an absolute defense, and these are defenses that the defendants have pled to the defamation alleged by and shown by Mr. McFarland. Now, the defendants must maintain the burden of proof regarding these defenses. That burden of proof is by the greater weight or the preponderance of the evidence.

⁸ (R. p. 512, line 15 - p. 513, line 13.)

Self-defense, the defendants claim the defense of self-defense. Even if the statement was defamatory or statements were defamatory, the statement or statements will not support an action for defamation if the statement or statements were invited or brought about by the plaintiff that you are considering. And of course you do this for both plaintiffs.

If the plaintiff verbally attacked the defendant, the defendant is allowed to reply to that attack as long as the reply is made in good faith and without malice. However, the defendant is responsible or the defendants are responsible if the statement in response to the plaintiff's attack goes beyond the plaintiff's attack or uses language that is unnecessarily defamatory.

Self-defense, which is also referred to as provocation or justification, must have been so recent as to induce a fair presumption that the injury complained of, the slander, the slander per se, was inflicted during the continuance of feeling and passions, excited by the provocation. The cause and manner of speaking the slander and all the circumstances then and there existing ought to be considered by you, the jury, in determining whether or not the defense of self-defense exists.⁹

Ladies and gentlemen, if you find that the defendant has failed to meet the burden of proof regarding self-defense as it relates to Mr. McFarland, then you would award some amount of damage. And I'm going to talk to you about aggravating and mitigating circumstances in a moment, but if you find that the defendants have

⁹ (R. p. 516, line 4 - p. 517, line 24.)

failed to meet their burden of proof regarding self-defense, provocation, justification, then you must award some amount of damages.

Now, ladies and gentlemen, if you find that Ms. McFarland has sustained her burden with regards to her claim for slander per se, and if you find that the defendants failed to meet their burden with regards to either truth or either self-defense, then, again, damages would be presumed and you would award some amount of damage. You would consider mitigation that I'm going to talk about in just a moment, but you would award some amount of damage.¹⁰

The jury returned defense verdicts on Bill and Jennifer's claims. (R. p. 533, line 15 - p. 534, line 22; R. pp. 8-9; *see also* R. pp. 6-7.) The McFarlands promptly moved for a new trial, and their motion was denied. (R. p. 535, line 13 - p. 538, line 1.)

By notice served January 9, 2015, this appeal followed. (The McFarlands' Notice of Appeal.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Although they do not live in the same subdivision and their mailing addresses do not share the same street name, Plaintiffs and Defendants are across-the-street neighbors; the Rashtchians' house fronts the street, called Flud Street, directly across from where the McFarlands' yard backs up to

¹⁰ (R. p. 520, lines 6-21.)

it.¹¹ Together with the strips of land on each side of its paved surface, Flud Street constitutes a 50-foot-wide zone of public right-of-way separating their respective properties. (See [Testimony of Bill McFarland: R. p. 68, lines 8-17; R. p. 69, lines 8-23; R. p. 70, line 5 - p. 74, line 8; R. p. 74, line 14 - p. 76, line 20; R. p. 105, line 15 - p. 106, line 11]; [Jennifer McFarland: R. p. 253, line 22 - p. 254, line 3; R. p. 255, line 24 - p. 256, line 3; R. p. 257, line 23 - p. 258, line 24]; [Marissa McFarland: R. p. 411, lines 11-18]; [Mansour Rashtchian: R. p. 431, lines 1-5; R. p. 442, lines 13-20; R. p. 462, lines 4-14; R. p. 463, line 12 - p. 464, line 13]; [Amy Rashtchian: R. p. 475, lines 5-12]; R. p. 539; R. p. 541.)

It happened on April 26, 2011, when a rather mundane—and undeniably tranquil—afternoon of yard work¹² was disrupted by Mansour storming from his house to confront Bill in the middle of Flud Street. By the time it was over, Mansour had, *by all accounts*, falsely—and loudly—accused Bill of having stolen his father-in-law’s business¹³ and, *according to*

¹¹ The McFarlands’ place, Lot 3 of seven total lots in the Live Oak Village subdivision, fronts Oak Village Lane and, like the subdivision at large, is bounded to the west by Flud Street.

¹² (See, e.g., [Testimony of Amy Rashtchian: R. p. 479, line 20 - p. 480, line 2]; [Mansour Rashtchian: R. p. 441, line 19 - p. 442, line 5].)

¹³ Mansour admitted accusing Bill of stealing his father-in-law’s business, that he showed “poor judgment” in doing so, and that “[he] should have never said [it].” (See [Testimony of Mansour Rashtchian: R. p. 450, lines 6-15; R. p. 469, line 4 - p. 471, line 9]; see also [Plaintiffs’ Counsel’s

the McFarlands, both of the Rashtchians had flung baseless charges of marital infidelity at Jennifer¹⁴—all within earshot of, among others, the McFarlands' two children, drawn out onto their back porch by the commotion. ([See Testimony of Bill McFarland: R. p. 85, line 15 - p. 87, line 19; R. p. 89, line 5 - p. 100, line 17; R. p. 101, lines 4-12; R. p. 107, line 17 - p. 108, line 15]; [Stephon Johnson: R. p. 232, line 2 - p. 235, line 8; R. p. 237, lines 17-22]; [Jennifer McFarland: R. p. 265, line 10 - p. 271, line 2; R. p. 305, line 23 - p. 306, line 4]; [Lance Johnson: R. p. 341, line 11 - p. 355, line 23; R. p. 379, lines 20-25]; [Mansour Rashtchian: R. p. 400, lines 15-20; R. p. 404, line 11 - p. 406, line 14; R. p. 407, line 17 - p. 410, line 24; R. p. 441, line 19 - p. 449, line 7; R. p. 450, line 6 - p. 457, line 18; R. p.

Opening Statement: R. p. 65, lines 13-18]; [Plaintiffs' Counsel's Closing Argument: R. p. 508, line 24 - p. 509, line 2]; [Statement of the Case, *supra*, regarding the trial court's determination about Bill's claim as a matter of law].)

¹⁴ The McFarlands testified that both of the Rashtchians falsely accused Jennifer of adultery. ([Testimony of Bill McFarland: R. p. 93, line 23 p. 94, line 4; R. p. 97, lines 12-13; R. p. 98, lines 4-6; R. p. 215, line 20 - p. 216, line 1]; [Jennifer McFarland: R. p. 267, line 22 - p. 268, line 3; R. p. 270, line 13 - p. 271, line 2]; *see also* [Stephon Johnson: R. p. 239, line 21 - p. 240, line 5]; [Lance Johnson: R. p. 350, lines 6-25; R. p. 371, lines 1-7].) Mansour denied this outright. (Testimony of Mansour Rashtchian: R. p. 457, lines 10-18; R. p. 459, lines 9-17.) Amy acknowledged communicating a need for concern about visitors coming to the McFarlands' house but denied such concerns were in reference to adultery on the part of Jennifer. ([Testimony of Amy Rashtchian: R. p. 487, line 10 - p. 489, line 2]; *see also* [Plaintiffs' Counsel's Opening Statement: R. p. 66, lines 10-18; R. p. 67, lines 2-8].)

459, line 24 - p. 460, line 1]; [Marissa McFarland: R. p. 411, line 11 - p. 412, line 7; R. p. 413, line 7 - p. 420, line 22; R. p. 422, lines 2-13; R. p. 423, lines 5-24]; [Amy Rashtchian: R. p. 479, line 20 - p. 489, line 9]; R. p. 542.)

Immediately prior to the incident, Bill was outside with Lance Johnson (“Lance”) and two other men¹⁵ from Lance’s landscaping company who were delivering mulch via the McFarlands’ back gate. (Testimony of Bill McFarland: R. p. 85, line 15 - p. 87, line 19.)¹⁶ It began when, according to Mansour’s own testimony, he approached and, dispensing with any pleasantries, “greeted” Bill as follows: “*Why are you so inconsiderate? These are [sic] the kind of crap you do. Nobody likes you around here.*”

¹⁵ Specifically, the two men with Lance were Stephon Johnson and Terrion Johnson. ([Testimony of Stephon Johnson: R. p. 229, line 19 - p. 231, line 2]; [Lance Johnson: R. p. 342, line 3 - p. 343, line 22].)

¹⁶ A brick and wrought iron fence bounds the rear of the McFarlands’ property. Slightly offset from one of the entrances to the Rashtchians’ circular driveway, on the McFarlands’ side, there is a break in the fence in the form of a double-swinging gate and a short, paved vehicular access (sort of a truncated driveway with its terminus a concrete pad emptying into their back lawn) connecting the McFarlands’ property to Flud Street. (See, e.g., [Testimony of Bill McFarland: R. p. 75, line 14 - p. 76, line 6; R. p. 102, line 23 - p. 104, line 1; R. p. 105, line 15 - p. 107, line 12]; [Mansour Rashtchian: R. p. 402, lines 22-24; R. p. 437, lines 13-15; R. p. 442, line 13 - p. 443, line 25]; [Amy Rashtchian: R. p. 490, line 12 - p. 491, line 6]; R. pp. 540-41.) Lance/his company had delivered Bill mulch a number of times prior, between two and four times per year since 2009, following the same procedure—i.e., using Flud Street and backing their mulch trailer into position on the concrete pad at the rear gate—without complaint from Mansour. (Testimony of Bill McFarland: R. p. 85, line 15 - p. 87, line 19; R. p. 89, line 5 - p. 91, line 19.)

(Testimony of Mansour Rashtchian: R. p. 446, lines 18-23 (emphasis added).) Thus the peace was breached, and from this point of departure—or rather derailment—the affair continued, with both men’s wives becoming involved before it was all said and done. (*See, e.g.*, [Testimony of Lance Johnson: R. p. 368, line 1 - p. 369, line 15; R. p. 397, line 23 - p. 398, line 25]; [Mansour Rashtchian: R. p. 448, lines 17-22; R. p. 456, lines 9-17; R. p. 472, lines 8-13]; [Amy Rashtchian: R. p. 483, line 10 - p. 485, line 25].)

As for the offense that drew his ire, according to Mansour, the landscapers’ truck and trailer were blocking Flud Street—which, it should be noted, is not a thoroughfare, but comes to a dead end, with but a modest number of houses along it¹⁷—and Bill had directed a total of exactly *two* vehicles around the obstacle so as to cross over a portion of the grass on the Rashtchians’ side, albeit “right-of-way’ grass” near the pavement that was not actually his property and, at that, there is no evidence in the record of any property damage in any event. ([Testimony of Mansour Rashtchian: R. p. 404, line 11 - p. 405, line 3; R. p. 441, line 19 - p. 446, line 25; R. p. 463, line 12 - p. 468, line 20]; *see also* [Plaintiffs’ Counsel’s Opening Statement: R. p. 63, line 19 - p. 64, line 5]; [Stephon Johnson: R. p. 248, lines 3-12];

¹⁷ ([Testimony of Bill McFarland: R. p. 87, line 20 - p. 89, line 4]; [Jennifer McFarland: R. p. 257, line 23 - p. 258, line 5]; *see also* [Stephon Johnson: R. p. 236, lines 17-19]; R. p. 541.)

[Lance Johnson: R. p. 365, line 18 - p. 367, line 7; R. p. 367, lines 19-22; R. p. 379, lines 6-13; R. p. 399, lines 12-22]; [Amy Rashtchian: R. p. 790, lines 12-17; R. p. 492, lines 11-17].)

Besides this alleged impropriety, even though the only evidence in the record is that the couples had little interaction in the nearly ten years prior, both of the Rashtchians also testified about previous events reflecting a growing resentment against the McFarlands that they brought with them to the events of April 26, 2011. (*See* [Testimony of Mansour Rashtchian: R. p. 431, line 1 - p. 441, line 18]; [Amy Rashtchian: R. p. 475, line 5 - p. 479, line 19].) To be clear, the McFarlands denied any past antagonism of the Rashtchians. ([Testimony of Bill McFarland: R. p. 98, line 7 - p. 99, line 11; R. p. 174, lines: 9-17; R. p. 176, line 16 - p. 177, line 2; R. p. 184, lines 12-14]; [Jennifer McFarland: R. p. 258, line 10 - p. 265, line 9].) The Rashtchians' allegations in this regard are noted here only to make the point that—unwarranted as it was—as evidenced by their own testimony, the Rashtchians' bitterness toward the McFarlands pre-dated the incident giving rise to the defamation at issue.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Trial-court decisions regarding jury charges are subject to an abuse-of-discretion standard of appellate review. Cole v. Raut, 378 S.C. 398, 404,

663 S.E.2d 30, 33 (2008). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law or is not supported by the evidence.” Id.¹⁸

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