THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Diane Schafer Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

FEB 18 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2015-000058

William McFarland and Jennifer McFarland.....Appellants,

v.

Mansour Rashtchian and Amy Rashtchian.....Respondents

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Stephen L. Brown
Russell G. Hines
25 Calhoun Street, Suite 400
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
Attorneys for Appellants

David C. Cleveland
Michael L. Leech
Clawson and Staubes, LLC
126 Seven Farms Drive
Suite 200
Charleston, SC 29492
Attorneys for Respondents

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

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

In order to prove defamation, the plaintiff must show (1) a false and defamatory statement was made; (2) the unprivileged publication was made to a third party; (3) the publisher was at fault; and (4) either actionability of the statement irrespective of special harm or the existence of special harm caused by the publication.

Id. at 465, 629 S.E.2d at 664. “A statement is (1) either defamatory per se or defamatory per quod, and (2) actionable per se or not actionable per se.” Parrish, 376 S.C. at 320, 656 S.E.2d at 388.

If the defamatory meaning of a message or statement is obvious on the face of the statement, the statement is defamatory per se. If the defamatory meaning is not clear unless the hearer knows the facts or circumstances not contained in the statement itself, then the statement is defamatory per quod. In cases involving defamation per quod, the plaintiff must introduce facts extrinsic to the statement itself in order to prove a defamatory meaning.

Id. (citations omitted). Defamation has two forms; libel and slander. All libel is actionable *per se*. Holtzscheiter v. Thomson Newspapers, 332 S.C. 502, 511, 506 S.E.2d 497, 502 (1998). Slander, which was alleged in the case at bar, “is actionable *per se* when the defendant’s alleged defamatory statements charge the plaintiff with one of five types of acts or characteristics: (1) commission of a crime of moral turpitude; (2) contraction of a loathsome disease; (3) adultery; (4) unchastity; or (5) unfitness in one’s

business or profession.” Goodwin v. Kennedy, 347 S.C. 30, 36, 552 S.E.2d 319, 322-23 (Ct. App. 2001).⁴ If a defamatory statement is actionable *per se*, there is some measure of general damages that is presumed unless justification or privilege is proven. See Erickson, 368 S.C. at 465, 629 S.E.2d at 664.

Before proceeding into the argument, it is important to classify the statements made in the instant case under the above categories. As to the statement to Mr. McFarland, Respondents concede that, “you stole your father-in-law’s business” is defamatory *per se* and is actionable *per se*. R. p. 507, lines 15-17.

As to the statement Appellants allege related to Mrs. McFarland chastity, the evidence indicates that the statement made was “You need to be looking about who’s coming in your house when you’re not here,” or some derivation thereof. R. p. 498, lines 4-10. Both sides have presented competing accounts as to the wording and meaning of this statement. Appellants contend that the additional phrase, “and your wife cheats,” was included and the statement is both defamatory *per se* and actionable *per se*. R. p. 97, lines 12-13. However, it is clear from the testimony of the Appellants’ own witnesses that the word “cheat” was never used. R. p. 362, line 25- p. 636, line 2; p. 371, lines 1-4; p. 390, lines 3-12. Therefore, the statement as to Mrs. McFarland is not clear on its face and the trial court correctly ruled that it is a question of fact for the jury to determine the true meaning of this statement based on the evidence presented at trial. R. p. 498, lines 4-21. Respondents contend this statement was referring to the McFarland’s teenage daughter and it was a true statement; therefore, it is neither defamatory *per se* nor actionable *per se*. R. p. 488, lines 3-10. The trial court properly left that question to the

⁴ Respondents/Appellants deny that the statement that the McFarlands are racists falls within this category.

jury as well.

- I. **THE JURY FOUND MR. MCFARLAND INITIATED THE ALTERCATION THAT LED TO THE DEFAMATORY STATEMENT; ESCALATED THE LEVEL OF THE ALTERCATION BY VERBALLY ATTACKING MR. RASHTCHIAN AND CALLING HIM A “SHODDY CONTRACTOR”; MR. RASHTCHIAN RESPONDED IN A MANNER COMMENSURATE OR LESS THAN MR. MCFARLAND’S SYSTEMATIC DEGRADATION OF MR. RASHTCHIAN’S RACE AND CONTRACTING ABILITIES; AND WHERE SELF-DEFENSE IS A COMPLETE DEFENSE TO DEFAMATION THAT IS ACTIONABLE PER SE.**

Appellants concede that self-defense is available in a defamation action, but argue it is inapplicable in the instant action as a complete defense where the defamatory statement is actionable *per se*. Herein lies the Appellants’ fundamental misunderstanding of South Carolina defamation law. Appellants contend that once the statement referring to Mr. McFarland was deemed actionable *per se*, the case should have been sent to the jury for a determination of damages without regard to whether the jury believed there was some justification or defense for the statement. Appellants also contend that the court failed to allow the jury to consider whether the Appellants proved actual malice. We will address these arguments in turn. We will further show that the findings by the jury were supported by the evidence.

- a. **Self-Defense is a Complete Defense to Defamation; it Can Also be Considered a Mitigating Factor with Respect to Damages.**

As stated above, defamatory publications can be classified as either actionable *per se* or not. Libel and certain forms of slander are actionable *per se*. Goodwin, 347 S.C. at 36, 552 S.E.2d at 322-23. Under South Carolina law, self-defense is available as a complete bar or a mitigating factor regardless of the statement’s classification. Stated differently, a statement that may be otherwise defamatory is privileged where made in response to another’s statement. Two South Carolina cases are directly on point:

Cartwright v. Herald Pub. Co., 220 S.C. 492, 68 S.E.2d 415 (1951), and Duncan v. Record Pub. Co., 145 S.C. 196, 143 S.E. 31 (1927), both of which involve publications that were actionable *per se*.

Cartwright involved a libelous publication and the appeal of a Defense verdict. 220 S.C. at 496, 68 S.E.2d at 416. Much like the instant matter, the statement in Cartwright, was actionable *per se* and fell “within the well established rule of self-defense from libel or slander.” Id. at 498, 68 S.E.2d at 417. The Cartwright jury was instructed:

If a party’s good name is assailed by letters published in a newspaper, he may reply defending himself, and if his reply is made in good faith without malice, and it is not unnecessarily defamatory of his assailant, it is privileged even though false ... *and is not actionable....*

Id. at 503, 68 S.E.2d at 419 (emphasis added). By using the phrase, “is not actionable” the lower court clearly indicated that the jury could find in favor of the Defendant even where the publication was actionable *per se*. In affirming the lower court’s defense verdict, the South Carolina Supreme Court found “instructions were sound in their setting as applied to the facts of this case.” Id.

Duncan also involved a libelous publication, which again, is actionable *per se*. Duncan is distinguishable from Cartwright in that the jury found for the Plaintiff after being instructed on self-defense. Defendants appealed complaining that the judge had improperly instructed the jury that self-defense was only a mitigating factor for the determination of damages. Defendants took exception to the following charge:

[T]he defense of self-defense and privilege, as I have heretofore set them forth, would apply in this case in mitigation or reduction of damages if the publication by defendants was libelous, even though plaintiff’s (defendants’) publication resulted from a speech made by

plaintiff during a session of the Senate, of which he was a member, and in the Senate chamber...

145 S.C. at 272-273, 143 S.E. at 55. While Defendants' contentions were correct with regard to the isolated portion of the charge, the Supreme Court stated that the charge must be read as a whole. Id. at 273, 143 S.E. at 55. The Court cited the following additional portions of charge made by the trial court:

In an honest endeavor to vindicate himself and his own interests, a defendant is often privileged to make statements which would otherwise be regarded as defamatory. If a party's good name is assailed in a newspaper, he may reply, defending himself, and, if his reply is made in good faith, without malice, and is not unnecessarily defamatory of his assailant, it is privileged. Even though false, a publication which is fairly in answer to a libel, if published without malice and in good faith, for the purpose of repelling a charge, is privileged, *and is not actionable*.

Id. at 273-274, 143 at 56 (emphasis added)

An action for libel is not to be encouraged for publication made while parties are mutually engaged in making publications about each other. A publication made in the course of a newspaper war, and bearing some reasonable relation to the subject-matter of the controversy, is qualifiedly privileged, and it is for you to determine from the evidence applying to the evidence the rules of law stated by me, whether or not, under the circumstances of this case, the publication made by defendants was qualifiedly privileged, and, if it was privileged, then you cannot award the plaintiff a verdict, unless you find that the defendants were actuated by express or actual malice in making the publication, and have abused their privilege.

Id. at 274, 143 S.E. at 56.

If from a defendant's point of view strong words seem to be justified, he should not be held liable for using them, unless the jury find from the evidence that what he published was malicious and inconsistent with good faith.

Id. The Supreme Court upheld the lower court's ruling, stating that, "In view of the foregoing instructions it cannot be said that the trial court limited the scope and sufficiency of the defense of 'self-defense and privilege' to mitigation of damages." Id. at 274-275 143 S.E. at 56. Thus, the Supreme Court has made it clear that self-defense can be complete defense or a mitigating factor, and the two are not mutually exclusive.

Based on the two above-referenced cases, it is clear that self-defense can be a complete defense to defamation that is actionable *per se*. Therefore, Appellants appeal should be denied and the jury verdict should be affirmed.

b. The Jury was Properly Instructed that in Order to Prevail on the Affirmative Defense of Self-Defense, the Defendant's Reply Must Be "Made in Good Faith and Without Malice."⁵

As with those made in Cartwright and Duncan, the statement made in reference to Mr. McFarland is actionable *per se*. This does not mean Respondents are unable to avail themselves to their affirmative defenses. "If a defamation is actionable *per se*, then under common law principles the law presumes the defendant acted with common law malice and that the plaintiff suffered general damages." Murray v. Holnam, Inc., 344 S.C. 129, 142, 542 S.E.2d 743, 749 (Ct. App. 2001). "However, even if the slander is actionable *per se*, if the communication is privileged, the plaintiff must prove actual malice." Id. Appellants concede that one such privilege is self-defense. See Cartwright, 220 S.C. at 498, 68 at 417 ("It is clearly the general rule that statements made in reply to a defamatory publication enjoy a qualified privilege." (citations omitted)). "Actual malice or malice in fact is not presumed and must be proved. Actual malice means that the defendant was actuated by ill will in what he did, with the design to causelessly and wantonly injure the plaintiff; or that the statements were published with such recklessness

⁵ R. 517:11.

as to show a conscious indifference toward plaintiff's rights." *Id.* at 143, 542 S.E.2d at 750.

In the case *sub judice*, the trial court properly and completely instructed the jury on the Respondents' burden to prove their affirmative defenses. The court further charged:

If the plaintiff verbally attacked the defendant, the defendant is allowed to reply to that attack *as long as the reply is made in good faith and without malice*. However, the defendant is responsible or the defendants are responsible if the statement in response to the plaintiff's attack goes beyond the plaintiff's attack or uses language that is unnecessarily defamatory.

R. p. 517, lines 9-15 (emphasis added). The court also instructed:

Now, ladies and gentlemen, if a defamation is actionable per se, then *the law presumes the defendant acted with common law, actual malice and that the plaintiff or plaintiffs suffered general damages. Such defamation is actionable without proof of special damages*. Words actionable per se carry with them the presumption that actual damage to reputation and character directly and proximately resulted therefrom, and it is not necessary to allege or prove any actual or special damages.

R. p. 520, line 22- p. 521, line 5 (emphasis added).

The charge, read in its entirety, is a correct statement of the law and sufficiently explains to the jury that 1) the Respondents have to prove their affirmative defense and 2) this defense is only available when the reply is made in good faith and without malice. Therefore, the charge, read as a whole, is proper and does not constitute reversible error. Once this issue was submitted to the jury after being properly charged, the jury verdict should not be disturbed.

c. The Jury's Verdict As to Mr. McFarland Was Supported by the Evidence.

Finally, Appellants assert that Respondents cannot avail themselves to the affirmative defense of self-defense where they initiated the events leading to the defamatory statement. Despite being an inaccurate statement of the facts, this Court should not “disturb the jury’s factual findings unless a review of the record discloses there is no evidence which reasonably supports the jury’s findings.” Small v. Pioneer Mach., 329 S.C. 448, 461, 494 S.E.2d 835, 841 (Ct. App. 1997). Without giving too much credence to this portion of the argument, we will address the position that Mr. Rashtchian “sparked the whole defamatory episode.”

The record is clear that the incident on April 26, 2011 was precipitated by years of racially charged insults towards Mr. Rashtchian, as well as Mr. McFarland inconsiderate actions immediately prior to their interaction where Mr. McFarland directed two cars around his landscaper’s truck and onto the Rashtchian property. Mr. McFarland would surely agree that homeowners, including he and his wife, take great pride in the maintenance of their lawn and that he would take offense to someone driving on his grass.⁶ Appellants attempt to explain Mr. McFarland’s actions by arguing Fludd Street is “not a thoroughfare” and only “two vehicles” drove onto the “right-of-way” grass.” As such, they have essentially admitted that their own actions started the sequence of events leading up to the defamatory publication. Additionally, the record is similarly clear that the two had been arguing with each other and Mr. McFarland escalated the level of the altercation by making his own defamatory statement, “I know

⁶ “[N]othing is more pleasant to the eye than green grass kept finely shorn....” FRANCIS BACON, OF GARDENS (1625) reprinted in THE ESSAYS OF LORD BACON: WITH CRITICAL AND ILLUSTRATIVE NOTES, 185 (John Hunter ed., 1873).

what kind of shoddy contractor you are.” R. p. 448, line 24; p. 499, lines 5-7. Mr. Rashtchian’s response was proportional. By their verdict, the jury necessarily found that Mr. McFarland either started the event or escalated the level of the event such that Mr. Rashtchian’s reaction was justified. Appellants are now asking this Court to look into the minds of the jurors and to question their interpretation of the evidence as presented. As the verdict is supported by evidence in the record, the jury’s verdict should not be overturned.

II. THE JURY FOUND THE STATEMENT ALLEGEDLY REFERRING TO MRS. MCFARLAND IS NOT DEFAMATORY ON ITS FACE; THE STATEMENT WAS NOT ACTIONABLE PER SE; DID NOT DAMAGE MRS. MCFARLAND’S REPUTATION; WAS NOT MADE IN REFERENCE TO MRS. MCFARLAND; WAS TRUE; WAS UNAFFECTED BY THE CHALLENGED JURY INSTRUCTIONS; AND THE JURY FOUND MRS. MCFARLAND FAILED IN HER BURDEN OF PROOF.

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